Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 27, 2024 ACCEPTED: March 25, 2024 PUBLISHED: April 23, 2024

Carrollian Amplitudes from Strings

Stephan Stieberger,^{*a,b*} Tomasz R. Taylor^{*c,d*} and Bin Zhu^{be}

^aMax-Planck-Institut für Physik, Werner-Heisenberg-Institut, 85748 Garching, Germany
^bKavli Institute for Theoretical Physics, Santa Barbara, CA 93106, U.S.A.
^cDepartment of Physics, Northeastern University, Boston, MA 02115, U.S.A.
^dFaculty of Physics, University of Warsaw, ul. Pasteura 5, 02-093 Warsaw, Poland
^eSchool of Mathematics and Maxwell Institute for Mathematical Sciences, University of Edinburgh, EH9 3FD, U.K. *E-mail:* stephan.stieberger@mpp.mpg.de, taylor@neu.edu, bzhu@exseed.ed.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: Carrollian holography is supposed to describe gravity in four-dimensional asymptotically flat space-time by the three-dimensional Carrollian CFT living at null infinity. We transform superstring scattering amplitudes into the correlation functions of primary fields of Carrollian CFT depending on the three-dimensional coordinates of the celestial sphere and a retarded time coordinate. The power series in the inverse string tension is converted to a whole tower of both UV and IR finite descendants of the underlying field-theoretical Carrollian amplitude. We focus on four-point amplitudes involving gauge bosons and gravitons in type I open superstring theory and in closed heterotic superstring theory at the tree-level. We also discuss the limit of infinite retarded time coordinates, where the string world-sheet becomes celestial.

KEYWORDS: Conformal and W Symmetry, Gauge-Gravity Correspondence, Scattering Amplitudes, Superstrings and Heterotic Strings

ARXIV EPRINT: 2402.14062



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Carrollian amplitudes: preliminary	2
3	Carrollian amplitudes from field theory	4
	3.1 Four-gluon amplitudes	4
	3.2 Four-point mixed gauge-gravitational amplitudes	5
	3.3 Four-graviton amplitudes	6
4	Carrollian amplitudes from string theory	6
	4.1 Four-gluon amplitudes in open superstring theory	6
	4.2 Four-gluon amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory	10
	4.3 Mixed gauge-gravitational amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory	12
	4.4 Graviton amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory	13
5	Saddle-point approximation in Carrollian amplitudes from strings	13
6	Discussion	15

1 Introduction

Flat space-time holography has gained much interest in recent years. There are mainly two approaches in the study of flat space-time holography. The most developed one is celestial holography, which aims to formulate quantum gravity in four-dimensional asymptotically flat space-time in terms of a putative conformal field theory living on the celestial sphere at null infinity. See [1–5] for reviews of celestial holography. The second approach is Carrollian holography, where a putative three-dimensional Carrollian CFT lives at null infinity \mathcal{I} . Carrollian CFTs are field theories with BMS symmetries. They can be obtained from standard relativistic CFTs by taking the speed of light to zero, i.e. $c \to 0$ [6].

Celestial amplitudes [7, 8], obtained from standard scattering amplitudes, have been the central objects in celestial holography. Scattering amplitudes formulated w.r.t. the standard momentum eigenstate basis are converted into the boost eigenstate basis making conformal properties manifest. As for Carrollian holography, it has been shown in [9–11] that one can recast scattering amplitudes of massless particles into the so-called Carrollian amplitudes, written in terms of asymptotic or null data at \mathcal{I} . Carrollian amplitudes can be interpreted as correlation functions of Carrollian operators at null infinity. They are related to the modified celestial amplitudes [12–14] that appeared in the study of celestial amplitudes. Perhaps the most inspiring result from these studies is that these two approaches to flat holography are related to each other. One would hope that some of the difficulties in one approach might be easier to solve by the other approach.

Compared to celestial holography where many properties of celestial amplitudes have been understood, we still lack a good understanding of Carrollian amplitudes even though the inspiring paper of Mason, Ruzziconi, and Srikant [17] has pushed it much forward. Only a limited amount of examples of Carrollian amplitudes have been computed [9–11, 15– 19]. One of the missing examples are Carrollian string amplitudes, which are the main focus of this work in addition to mixed amplitudes involving gauge bosons and gravitons (Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitudes).

In [20], two of us computed celestial four-point, tree-level amplitudes of gauge bosons and gravitons in type I open superstring theory and in closed heterotic superstring theory. Several interesting properties of the celestial string amplitudes were observed, including a factorized α' dependence, how the single-valued projection that relates heterotic and open string amplitudes is implemented in celestial string amplitudes, how to take the field theory limit from the celestial string amplitudes, and a limit where the string world-sheet is identified as the celestial sphere.

In this work, adapting the prescription shown in [9-11], we compute Carrollian four-point, tree level amplitudes from string amplitudes. Similar to [20], we focus on amplitudes of gauge bosons and gravitons in type I open superstring theory and in closed heterotic superstring theory. In particular, we check whether those interesting properties of the celestial string amplitudes mentioned above still exist in the corresponding Carrollian amplitudes. We hope to provide some new insights to Carrollian holography, similar to what [20] offered to celestial holography.

2 Carrollian amplitudes: preliminary

In [9–11, 16, 17], the authors showed that scattering amplitudes of massless particles can be streamlined into 3D CFT correlators by Fourier transforms. These 3D CFT correlators are called Carrollian amplitudes, served as the CFT data of the putative Carrollian CFT living at null infinity $\mathcal{I} \simeq \mathbf{R} \times S^2$ with coordinates (u, z, \bar{z}) . Here (z, \bar{z}) are coordinates on the celestial sphere S^2 and u is a null or retarded time coordinate.

The first step towards Carrollian amplitudes is to parametrize the light-like momenta by

$$p^{\mu} = \omega q^{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \,\omega (1 + |z|^2, z + \bar{z}, -i(z - \bar{z}), 1 - |z|^2) \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where ω is the light-cone energy. The amplitudes are expressed in terms of spinor products

$$\langle ij \rangle = \sqrt{\omega_i \omega_j} \, z_{ij} \,, \qquad [ij] = -\sqrt{\omega_i \omega_j} \, \bar{z}_{ij}$$

$$\tag{2.2}$$

and the usual scalar products

$$s_{ij} = 2p_i p_j = \omega_i \omega_j z_{ij} \bar{z}_{ij} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

The Carrollian amplitudes are obtained by performing Fourier transforms with respect to

the energies:¹

$$C_{n}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{\epsilon_{1}}, \dots, \{u_{n}, z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}\}_{J_{n}}^{\epsilon_{n}}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{i}}{2\pi} e^{i\epsilon_{i}\omega_{i}u_{i}} \right) \mathcal{A}_{n}(\{\omega_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{\epsilon_{1}}, \dots, \{\omega_{n}, z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}\}_{J_{n}}^{\epsilon_{n}}).$$

$$(2.4)$$

where $\epsilon = \pm 1$ corresponds to outgoing (+1) or incoming (-1) particle and J denotes the particle helicities. \mathcal{A}_n are scattering amplitudes in momentum basis.

As explained in [16, 17], it is also necessary to consider the descendants by taking derivatives with respect to u coordinates. The ∂_u - descendants of conformal Carrollian primaries are also primaries. Adopting the notations of [17], we have

$$C_{n}^{m_{1}\dots m_{n}}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{\epsilon_{1}}, \dots, \{u_{n}, z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}\}_{J_{n}}^{\epsilon_{n}}) = \partial_{u_{1}}^{m_{1}}\dots \partial_{u_{n}}^{m_{n}}C_{n}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{\epsilon_{1}}, \dots, \{u_{n}, z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}\}_{J_{n}}^{\epsilon_{n}})$$
$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{i}}{2\pi} \left(i\epsilon_{i}\omega_{i}\right)^{m_{i}} e^{i\epsilon_{i}\omega_{i}u_{i}} \right) \mathcal{A}_{n}(\{\omega_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{\epsilon_{1}}, \dots, \{\omega_{n}, z_{n}, \bar{z}_{n}\}_{J_{n}}^{\epsilon_{n}}), \tag{2.5}$$

and a shorthand notation for $C_n^{1...1}$:

$$\widetilde{C}_n(\{u_1, z_1, \bar{z}_1\}_{J_1}^{\epsilon_1}, \dots, \{u_n, z_n, \bar{z}_n\}_{J_n}^{\epsilon_n}) = C_n^{1\dots 1}(\{u_1, z_1, \bar{z}_1\}_{J_1}^{\epsilon_1}, \dots, \{u_n, z_n, \bar{z}_n\}_{J_n}^{\epsilon_n}).$$
(2.6)

As a warm-up, we review the calculations of two-point Carrollian amplitudes shown in [11, 21]. The 2-point tree-level scattering amplitudes in momentum basis are given by

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}(\{\omega_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{-}, \{\omega_{2}, z_{2}, \bar{z}_{2}\}_{J_{2}}^{+}) = \kappa_{J_{1}, J_{2}}^{2} \pi \frac{\delta(\omega_{1} - \omega_{2})}{\omega_{1}} \delta^{(2)}(z_{1} - z_{2}) \delta_{J_{1}, J_{2}}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where κ_{J_1,J_2} is the normalization that depends on the particles involved. Using eq. (2.4), the corresponding two-point Carrollian amplitudes are simply

$$C_{2}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{-}, \{u_{2}, z_{2}, \bar{z}_{2}\}_{J_{2}}^{+})$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega_{1} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega_{2} e^{-i\omega_{1}u_{1}} e^{i\omega_{2}u_{2}} \mathcal{A}_{2}(\{\omega_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{-}, \{\omega_{2}, z_{2}, \bar{z}_{2}\}_{J_{2}}^{+})$$

$$= \frac{\kappa_{J_{1}, J_{2}}^{2}}{4\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega(u_{1}-u_{2})} \delta^{(2)}(z_{1}-z_{2}) \delta_{J_{1}, J_{2}}.$$
(2.8)

The integral in the last line

$$\mathcal{I}_0(u_1 - u_2) = \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega}{\omega} e^{-i\omega(u_1 - u_2)}$$
(2.9)

is divergent and needs to be regulated as [11, 21]

$$\mathcal{I}_{\beta}(x) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega \, \omega^{\beta - 1} e^{-i\omega x - \omega\epsilon} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \frac{\Gamma(\beta)(-i)^{\beta}}{(x - i\epsilon)^{\beta}} \,.$$
(2.10)

¹Notice that the energies are bounded from 0, rather than $-\infty$. More precisely, these transforms are Laplace transforms. They are related to the modified Mellin transform [12] by setting the conformal dimension Δ to 1 [16].

In the limit $\beta \rightarrow 0^+$, one finds

$$\mathcal{I}_{\beta} = \frac{1}{\beta} - \left(\gamma_E + \ln|u_{12}| + \frac{i\pi}{2}\operatorname{sign}(u_{12})\right) + \mathcal{O}(\beta), \qquad (2.11)$$

where γ_E is the Euler-Mascheroni constant. As a result, the two-point Carrollian amplitudes take the following form

$$C_{2}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{-}, \{u_{2}, z_{2}, \bar{z}_{2}\}_{J_{2}}^{+}) = \lim_{\beta \to 0} \frac{\kappa_{J_{1}, J_{2}}^{2}}{4\pi} \left[\frac{1}{\beta} - \left(\gamma_{E} + \ln |u_{12}| + \frac{i\pi}{2} \operatorname{sign}(u_{12}) \right) \right] \delta^{(2)}(z_{12}) \delta_{J_{1}, J_{2}}.$$

$$(2.12)$$

Note the singularity at $\beta \to 0$ which, according to [16], is related to the $\ln(r)$ anomaly in the asymptotic expansion of the bulk two-point function.

From eq. (2.6), the first ∂_u descendant has a simple form

$$\widetilde{C}_{2}(\{u_{1}, z_{1}, \bar{z}_{1}\}_{J_{1}}^{-}, \{u_{2}, z_{2}, \bar{z}_{2}\}_{J_{2}}^{+}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0^{+}} \frac{\kappa_{J_{1}, J_{2}}^{2}}{4\pi} \frac{1}{(u_{12} - i\epsilon)^{2}} \delta^{(2)}(z_{12}) \delta_{J_{1}, J_{2}}.$$
(2.13)

Notice that the divergent part $1/\beta$ in C_2 is not present in \tilde{C}_2 .

3 Carrollian amplitudes from field theory

All three-point Carrollian amplitudes have been computed in [17]. Moreover, the stringy corrections to the amplitudes are absent for three points due to kinematic reasons. In this section, we will start from four-point amplitudes. For later use, we will display the four — point Carrollian amplitudes in Yang-Mills (YM) and Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) theory.

3.1 Four-gluon amplitudes

In the case of four particles, the momentum-conserving delta functions can be written as

$$\delta^{(4)}(\omega_1 q_1 + \omega_2 q_2 - \omega_3 q_3 - \omega_4 q_4) = \frac{4}{\omega_4 |z_{14}|^2 |z_{23}|^2} \times \delta\left(\omega_1 - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}}\omega_4\right) \delta\left(\omega_2 - \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}}\omega_4\right) \delta\left(\omega_3 + \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{23}\bar{z}_{13}}\omega_4\right) \delta(r - \bar{r}), \qquad (3.1)$$

where r is the two-dimensional conformal invariant cross ratio:

$$r = \frac{z_{12}z_{34}}{z_{23}z_{41}}.$$
(3.2)

Note that we have chosen a specific in and out configuration: particle 1 and 2 are incoming while particle 3 and 4 are outgoing. The reality constraint on the cross ratio imposed by $\delta(r-\bar{r})$ follows from the momentum conservation law [8, 20]. The physical meaning of the cross ratio can be understood from the relation between Mandelstam's variables $s = s_{12} = (p_1 + p_2)^2$, $u = -s_{23} = (p_2 - p_3)^2$, and the scattering angle θ :

$$\frac{s_{23}}{s_{12}} = \frac{1}{r} = -\frac{u}{s} = \sin^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right).$$
(3.3)

In the physical domain, r > 1, s > 0, u = -s/r < 0.

We begin with the well-known four-point MHV gluon amplitude

$$\mathcal{M}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{\langle 12 \rangle^3}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle \langle 41 \rangle} = \frac{\omega_1 \omega_2}{\omega_3 \omega_4} \frac{z_{12}^3}{z_{23} z_{34} z_{41}} = r \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34}}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where in the last step we have used the kinematic constraints from eq. (3.1). The corresponding Carrollian amplitude is

$$C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_2}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_3}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_4}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega_1 u_1} e^{-i\omega_2 u_2} e^{i\omega_3 u_3} e^{i\omega_4 u_4} r \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \\ \times \frac{4}{\omega_4 |z_{14}|^2 |z_{23}|^2} \delta \left(\omega_1 - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}} \omega_4 \right) \delta \left(\omega_2 - \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}} \omega_4 \right) \delta \left(\omega_3 + \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{23}\bar{z}_{13}} \omega_4 \right) \delta(r - \bar{r}) \\ = \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r - \bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{23}|^2} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_4}{\omega_4} e^{i\omega_4 x_4} , \qquad (3.5)$$

where we have defined

$$x_{4} = u_{4} - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}}u_{1} - \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}}u_{2} - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{23}\bar{z}_{13}}u_{3}$$

$$= u_{4} - \frac{r}{r-1}\frac{|z_{24}|^{2}}{|z_{12}|^{2}}u_{1} - \frac{1}{r}\frac{|z_{34}|^{2}}{|z_{23}|^{2}}u_{2} + (r-1)\frac{|z_{14}|^{2}}{|z_{13}|^{2}}u_{3}.$$
(3.6)

The integral in the last line of eq. (3.5) is the same as the one in eq. (2.9), which needs to be regulated as explained there. Therefore,

$$C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \mathcal{I}_0(-x_4) \,. \tag{3.7}$$

Similar to the two-point case, we compute the *u*-descendant \tilde{C}_4 and we find

$$C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) = \partial_{u_1}\partial_{u_2}\partial_{u_3}\partial_{u_4}C_{4,\rm YM}$$

$$= -\frac{4}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}} \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}} \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{32}\bar{z}_{13}} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4^3$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{24}^2 \bar{z}_{34}^3 r\,\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{12}|^2 z_{34} \bar{z}_{13}^2|z_{23}|^4} \left(u_4 - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}}u_1 - \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}}u_2 - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{23}\bar{z}_{13}}u_3\right)^{-4}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{24}^2 \bar{z}_{34}^3 r\,\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{12}|^2 z_{34} \bar{z}_{13}^2|z_{23}|^4} x_4^{-4}.$$
(3.8)

Our results agree with [17] up to an overall constant.

3.2 Four-point mixed gauge-gravitational amplitudes

The simplest amplitude with one graviton and three gluons in EYM is [24]

$$\mathcal{M}(--,-,+,+) = \frac{\langle 12 \rangle^4}{\langle 23 \rangle \langle 34 \rangle \langle 42 \rangle} = \frac{\omega_1^2 \omega_2}{\omega_3 \omega_4} \frac{z_{12}^4}{z_{23} z_{34} z_{42}} = r \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}^2 z_{14}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34} \bar{z}_{13}} \omega_4 \,. \tag{3.9}$$

Proceeding the same way as before, we obtain the corresponding Carrollian amplitude

$$C_{4,\text{EYM}}(--,-,+,+) = \frac{i}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}^2 r \delta(r-\bar{r})}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34} \bar{z}_{13} \bar{z}_{14} |z_{23}|^2} \frac{1}{x_4}, \qquad (3.10)$$

with x_4 defined in eq. (3.6). Note, that this amplitude (3.10) has not been computed before in the literature and represents the first example of a mixed Carrollian amplitude involving both a graviton and several gauge bosons.

3.3 Four-graviton amplitudes

The four-graviton amplitudes can be obtained from the pure Yang-Mill amplitudes by using the famous KLT relations [25]. The tree-level 4-graviton amplitude reads

$$\mathcal{M}(--, --, ++, ++) = \mathcal{M}(-, -, +, +) \, s_{12} \, \mathcal{M}'(-, -, +, +) \,, \tag{3.11}$$

where $\mathcal{M}(-, -, +, +)$ is the Yang-Mills amplitudes given by eq. (3.4) and the prime implies exchanging 3 and 4 with respect to the canonical (1, 2, 3, 4) ordering. In terms of the energy and celestial coordinates, this can be written as

$$\mathcal{M}(--,-,++,++) = \omega_4^2 \frac{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \left(r \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34}}\right)^2.$$
(3.12)

The corresponding Carrollian amplitude is

$$C_{4,\mathrm{E}}(--,-,++,++) = -\frac{\delta(r-\bar{r})|z_{34}|^2}{|z_{23}|^2|z_{13}|^2} \left(r\frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}}\right)^2 \frac{1}{x_4^2},$$
(3.13)

which is IR finite in contrast to the gluon amplitude eq. (3.5). Moreover, in contrast to the celestial graviton amplitude [20] the Carrollian graviton amplitude is UV finite as the time coordinate u acts as a UV regulator.

4 Carrollian amplitudes from string theory

4.1 Four-gluon amplitudes in open superstring theory

First, we consider type I open superstring. The type I open superstring amplitude is related to the Yang-Mills amplitude eq. (3.4) by a simple rescaling

$$\mathcal{M}_{I}(-,-,+,+) = \mathcal{M}(-,-,+,+)F_{I}(s,u), \qquad (4.1)$$

with the string "formfactor" [26]

$$F_I(s,u) = -\alpha' s_{12} B(-\alpha' s_{12}, 1 + \alpha' s_{23}) = -s B(-s, 1-u) = \frac{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(1-u)}{\Gamma(1-s-u)}, \quad (4.2)$$

where we have rescaled Mandelstam's variables by the string scale: $s = \alpha' s_{12}$ and $u = -\alpha' s_{23} = -s/r$. Upon using the momentum conserving delta function (3.1), we have

$$s = \alpha'(r-1) \frac{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \omega_4^2, \qquad (4.3)$$

$$u = \alpha' \frac{1-r}{r} \frac{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \omega_4^2, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$s + u = \alpha' \frac{(r-1)^2}{r} \frac{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \omega_4^2.$$
(4.5)

In this section, we will follow three different ways of evaluating the corresponding Carrollian amplitudes.

4.1.1 Carrollian string amplitude as series over field theory descendants

In the first method, starting from the fact that the beta function admits a Laurent expansion (cf. e.g. [27, 28]), one can rewrite the string formfactor in eq. (4.2) as follows

$$F_I(s,u) = \frac{\Gamma(1-s)\Gamma(1-u)}{\Gamma(1-s-u)} = \exp\left\{\sum_{n\geq 2} \frac{\zeta(n)}{n} \left(s^n + u^n - (s+u)^n\right)\right\},$$
(4.6)

where $\zeta(n)$ are Riemann zeta values. Expanding the exponential, it gives the α' expansions:

$$F_I(s,u) = 1 - \zeta(2)su - \zeta(3)su(s+u) - \frac{2}{5}\zeta(2)^2(s^2 + \frac{1}{4}su + u^2) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^5).$$
(4.7)

We proceed to compute the Carrollian amplitude by using eq. (4.6):

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) =$$

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{1}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{3}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{4}}{2\pi} e^{-i\omega_{1}u_{1}} e^{-i\omega_{2}u_{2}} e^{i\omega_{3}u_{3}} e^{i\omega_{4}u_{4}} r \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \\ \times \frac{4}{\omega_{4}|z_{14}|^{2}|z_{23}|^{2}} \delta \left(\omega_{1} - \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{13}}\omega_{4}\right) \delta \left(\omega_{2} - \frac{z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}}{z_{12}\bar{z}_{32}}\omega_{4}\right) \delta \left(\omega_{3} + \frac{z_{24}\bar{z}_{14}}{z_{23}\bar{z}_{13}}\omega_{4}\right) \delta(r-\bar{r})F_{I}(s,u) \\ = \frac{1}{4\pi^{4}} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^{2}|z_{23}|^{2}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega_{4} e^{i\omega_{4}x_{4}} \frac{1}{\omega_{4}} \exp \left\{\sum_{n\geq 2} \frac{\zeta(n)}{n} \left(s^{n} + u^{n} - (s+u)^{n}\right)\right\}, \quad (4.8)$$

where s, u, and s + u are given by eqs. (4.3) to (4.5). Notice that s, u, and s + u are all proportional to ω_4^2 . Since the integrand contains an exponential $e^{i\omega_4 u_4}$, we can trade each ω_4^2 for a derivative $\partial_{u_4}^2$ and pull the exponential out of the integral, leading to

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = \exp\left\{\sum_{n\geq 2} \frac{\zeta(n)}{n} \frac{\alpha'^{n} |z_{14}|^{2n} |z_{34}|^{2n}}{|z_{13}|^{2n}} \left[(r-1)^{n} + \left(\frac{1-r}{r}\right)^{n} - \left(\frac{(r-1)^{2}}{r}\right)^{n} \right] (-1)^{n} \partial_{u_{4}}^{2n} \right\} \\ \times \frac{1}{4\pi^{4}} \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34}} \frac{r \delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^{2} |z_{23}|^{2}} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_{4}}{\omega_{4}} e^{i\omega_{4}x_{4}} , \\ = \exp\left\{\sum_{n\geq 2} \frac{\zeta(n)}{n} \frac{\alpha'^{n} |z_{14}|^{2n} |z_{34}|^{2n}}{|z_{13}|^{2n}} \left[(r-1)^{n} + \left(\frac{1-r}{r}\right)^{n} - \left(\frac{(r-1)^{2}}{r}\right)^{n} \right] (-1)^{n} \partial_{u_{4}}^{2n} \right\} \\ \times C_{4,\text{YM}}(-,-,+,+) , \qquad (4.9)$$

where we used eq. (3.5) for the Carrollian gluon amplitudes from YM. This result shows that the Carrollian amplitudes from type I open string theory can be obtained by a differential operator acting on the field theory Carrollian amplitudes. The differential operator ∂_{u_4} generates the ∂_u -descendants of the field theory Carrollian amplitudes thus encoding the information of the α' -expansions. Notice that although the ∂_{u_4} derivatives in (4.9) increase conformal dimensions, the whole combination in the exponent of (4.9) does not change the conformal dimension of $C_{4,\text{YM}}$ due to the compensating conformal weights supplied by the $|z_{ij}|$ factors. Note, that this way a whole tower of both UV and IR finite descendants of the field theory Carrollian amplitude is generated.

Comparing eq. (4.9) with its celestial counterpart in [20] shows, that the α' dependence of (4.9) does not factorize.

4.1.2 Carrollian string amplitude as series over Nielsen polylogarithms

Next, we shall present the second method of computing the Carrollian amplitude in type I open string. As we will see, it can be written as a double series expansion. It is convenient to use the integral representation of the string formfactor eq. (4.2)

$$F_I(s,u) = -sB(-s,1-u) = -s\int_0^1 dx \, x^{-1-s}(1-x)^{-u} \,. \tag{4.10}$$

The Carrollian amplitudes eq. (4.8) becomes

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{|z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{23}|^2} \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 \, e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4 \, \exp\left[-\rho \, \omega_4^2 [r \ln x - \ln(1-x)]\right],$$
(4.11)

where

$$\rho = \frac{\alpha'(r-1)}{r} \frac{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

The integral in eq. (4.11) can be written as

$$\int_{0}^{1} \frac{dx}{x} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega_{4} e^{i\omega_{4}x_{4}} \omega_{4} \exp\left[-\rho \,\omega_{4}^{2}[r\ln x - \ln(1-x)]\right]$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\omega_{4} \,\omega_{4}^{1+2k} e^{i\omega_{4}x_{4}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dx}{x} \frac{(-1)^{k} \rho^{k}}{k!} [r\ln x - \ln(1-x)]^{k}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k} \rho^{k} \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_{4})^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k} r^{l} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{dx}{x} \frac{(\ln x)^{l} [-\ln(1-x)]^{k-l}}{l!(k-l)!}, \qquad (4.13)$$

where we used eq. (2.10) and binomial expansion $(a-b)^k = \sum_{l=0}^k {k \choose l} a^l (-b)^{k-l}$ in the last line. The integral w.r.t. x in eq. (4.13) is related to Nielsen's polylogarithm functions $S_{n,k}(t)$ [29]

$$S_{n,k}(t) = \frac{(-1)^{n+k-1}}{(n-1)!k!} \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \ln^{n-1} x \, \ln^k(1-xt) \,, \quad t \in \mathbf{C} \,, \tag{4.14}$$

labeled by positive integers n and k. To simplify the notation, we denote $S(n,k) = S_{n,k}(1)$. The series expansion in (4.13) can be written as

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S(l+1,k-l) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} r^k \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \frac{\ln^k x}{k!}, \qquad (4.15)$$

where the second line corresponds to the l = k terms in eq. (4.13). As we will see, the second line of eq. (4.15) reproduces the field-theory Carrollian amplitude eq. (3.5):

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} r^k \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \frac{\ln^k x}{k!}$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4^{1+2k} \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \frac{(-\rho r \ln x)^k}{k!}$
= $\int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4 \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} e^{-\rho r \omega_4^2 \ln x} = -\int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \frac{1}{\rho r \omega_4}.$ (4.16)

Combined with the prefactor in eq. (4.11) and use eq. (4.12), this part reproduces exactly the field-theory Carrollian amplitude from eq. (3.5). Therefore, the Carrollian amplitudes in type I open string theory, computed by using this method, is given by

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) + \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{|z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{23}|^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-\rho)^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S(l+1,k-l) \,.$$
(4.17)

Moreover, the coefficients of the double series expansion are related to zeta values and multiple zeta values in the following way [30, 31]

$$S(k,1) = Li_{k+1}(1) = \zeta(k+1) \quad l = k-1,$$
(4.18)

$$S(l+1, k-l) = \zeta(l+2, \{1\}^{k-l-1}), \quad l < k-1,$$
(4.19)

where

$$\zeta(n+1,\{1\}^{k-1}) = \zeta(n+1,\underbrace{1,\dots,1}_{k-1}) = \sum_{n_1 > n_2 > \dots > n_k} \frac{1}{n_1^{n+1}n_2 \cdots n_k}$$
(4.20)

is a multiple zeta value (MZV) of depth k.

Notice that since ρ defined in eq. (4.12) contains α' , meaning all the α' corrections in eq. (4.17) to the Carrollian field theory amplitudes are contained in the double series expansion.

4.1.3 Carrollian string amplitude and Drinfeld associator

In this part we present a third method, which also relates the other two methods presented above. Rather than using eq. (4.6) for the expansion eq. (4.7) we use the series [32]

$$F_I(s,u) = 1 - \sum_{k,l \ge 0} c_{kl} \ s^{k+1} u^{l+1} , \qquad (4.21)$$

with

$$c_{kl} = c_{lk} = \zeta(l+2, \{1\}^k) = \zeta(k+2, \{1\}^l), \ k, l \ge 0,$$
(4.22)

being the coefficients of the logarithm of the Drinfeld associator $\Phi(A, B)$. More precisely [33]

$$\ln \Phi(A, B) = \sum_{k,l \ge 0} c_{kl} \operatorname{ad}(B)^{l} \operatorname{ad}(A)^{k} [A, B] h^{k+l+2}$$
(4.23)

modulo second commutants [[L, L], [L, L]] of the Lie algebra L generated by A and B. Here h is an order parameter and $ad(X) \dots = [X, \dots]$. With using the expansion eq. (4.21) we may repeat the step leading to eq. (4.8) and obtain

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{d\omega_4}{\omega_4} e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \left\{ 1 - \sum_{k,l \ge 0} c_{kl} x^{k+1} y^{l+1} \right\}, \quad (4.24)$$

with $x = r\rho\omega_4^2$ and $y = -\rho\omega_4^2$ and ρ defined in eq. (4.12). Clearly, the first term of eq. (4.24) gives rise to the field theory part eq. (3.5) of the amplitude. After separating the latter and performing the ω_4 integration we arrive at

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) \tag{4.25}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{23}|^2} \sum_{k,l \ge 0} (-1)^k c_{kl} \frac{\Gamma(4+2k+2l)}{x_4^{4+2k+2l}} r^{k+1} \rho^{k+l+2},$$

which can be cast into:

$$C_{4I}(-,-,+,+) = C_{4,\text{YM}}(-,-,+,+)$$

$$-\frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \sum_{k\geq 1} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} c_{k-l-1,l} \frac{\Gamma(2+2k)}{x_4^{2+2k}} (-r)^{k-l} \rho^{k+1} .$$

$$(4.26)$$

The result eq. (4.26) for the Carrollian string amplitude agrees with eq. (4.17) subject to eqs. (4.19) and (4.22). The expression eq. (4.26) represents a double series comprising the coefficients eq. (4.22) of the (logarithmic) Drinfeld associator eq. (4.23). For r = -1 the sum over l can be performed explicitly [27]:

$$\sum_{l=0}^{k-1} \zeta(k-l+1, \{1\}^l) = \frac{I_{k-1}}{(k-1)!},$$

with the integral

$$I_n = \int_{\Delta} dx dy \ \frac{(-\ln xy)^n}{xy}$$

over the triangle $\Delta = \{(x, y)\} \in [0, 1]^2 \mid x + y \ge 1\}$, e.g. $I_0 = \zeta(2), I_1 = 2\zeta(3)$.

Note, that the Drinfeld associator $\Phi(A, B)$, which captures the monodromy of a universal version of the Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov (KZ) equation, appears in knot theory and in conformal field theory [34]. In the latter the KZ equation describes a Ward identity of CFT correlators of primaries [35]. Therefore, it would be interesting to derive (4.25) directly in the underlying Carrollian CFT from a differential equation w.r.t. Carrollian coordinates (u, z, \bar{z}) resembling a KZ equation.

4.2 Four-gluon amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory

In heterotic superstring theory, similarly to type I, the four-gluon amplitude is related to the Yang-Mills amplitude eq. (3.4) by a simple rescaling,

$$\mathcal{M}_H(-, -, +, +) = \mathcal{M}(-, -, +, +) F_H(s, u), \qquad (4.27)$$

where the heterotic formfactor is [36]

$$F_H(s,u) = -\frac{\Gamma(-\alpha' s_{12})\Gamma(\alpha' s_{23})\Gamma(\alpha' s_{31})}{\Gamma(\alpha' s_{12})\Gamma(-\alpha' s_{23})\Gamma(-\alpha' s_{31})} = -\frac{\Gamma(-s)\Gamma(-t)\Gamma(-u)}{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(t)\Gamma(u)}.$$
(4.28)

Similar to eq. (4.6), the heterotic formfactor can be written as

$$F_H(s,u) = \exp\left\{\sum_{\substack{n \ge 2\\ n \text{ odd}}} \frac{2\zeta(n)}{n} \left(s^n + u^n - (s+u)^n\right)\right\},$$
(4.29)

In [37], it has been observed that eq. (4.29) can be obtained from eq. (4.6) by applying the following single-valued projection:

sv :
$$\begin{cases} \zeta(2n+1) \to 2\zeta(2n+1), & n \ge 1\\ \zeta(2n) \to 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.30)

The relation between open and closed string amplitudes through the single-valued projection has been established in [38]. The four-point Carrollian gluon amplitude in this case is written as the following integral

$$C_{4H}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{1}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12} \bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12} z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{14}|^2 |z_{23}|^2} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 \ e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \frac{1}{\omega_4} F_H(s,u) , \qquad (4.31)$$

with x_4 , s, and u given by eqs. (3.6), (4.3) and (4.4). Following the steps of the first method in the previous subsection, we obtain the Carrollian amplitude

$$C_{4H}(-,-,+,+) = \\ = \exp\left\{\sum_{\substack{n \ge 2\\n \text{ odd}}} \frac{2\zeta(n)}{n} \frac{\alpha'^n |z_{14}|^{2n} |z_{34}|^{2n}}{|z_{13}|^{2n}} \left[(r-1)^n + \left(\frac{1-r}{r}\right)^n - \left(\frac{(r-1)^2}{r}\right)^n \right] (-1)^n \partial_{u_4}^{2n} \right\} \\ \times C_{4,\text{YM}}(-,-,+,+)$$

$$(4.32)$$

which can be obtained from eq. (4.9) by the single-valued projection.

Next, we shall present the second way of computing the Carrollian gluon amplitude in heterotic string theory. The string formfactor eq. (4.28) can be written as a complex integral:

$$F_H(s,u) = -\frac{s}{\pi} \int d^2 z |z|^{-2s-2} |1-z|^{-2u} (1-z)^{-1}.$$
(4.33)

Substituting eqs. (4.3) and eqs. (4.4), eq. (4.31) becomes

$$C_{4H}(-,-,+,+) = \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{|z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{23}|^2} \\ \times \frac{1}{\pi} \int \frac{d^2z}{|z|^2(1-z)} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 \, e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \, \omega_4 \, \exp\left[-\omega_4^2 \left[\rho r \ln|z|^2 - \rho \ln|1-z|^2\right]\right],$$

$$(4.34)$$

where ρ is defined in eq. (4.12). After expanding the exponential w.r.t. ω_4^2 and following similar steps than those leading to eq. (4.13) the integral becomes:

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int \frac{d^2 z}{|z|^2 (1-z)} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 \, e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \, \omega_4 \, \exp\left[-\omega_4^2 \left[\rho r \ln |z|^2 - \rho \ln |1-z|^2\right]\right] \\
= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\pi} \int \frac{d^2 z}{|z|^2 (1-z)} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \, \omega_4^{1+2k} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k}{k!} \left[r \ln |z|^2 - \ln |1-z|^2\right]^k \\
= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\rho)^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^k r^l \frac{1}{\pi} \int \frac{d^2 z}{|z|^2 (1-z)} \frac{(\ln |z|^2)^l (-\ln |1-z|^2)^{k-l}}{l! (k-l)!} \,.$$
(4.35)

Once again, as we will see, the l = k terms correspond to the field theory Carrollian amplitude. The other terms are related to the generalized single-valued Nielsen's polylogrithms:

$$S_{n,k}^{\mathbf{c}}(t) \equiv \frac{(-1)^{n+k-1}}{\pi(n-1)! \, k!} \int_{\mathbf{C}} \frac{d^2 z}{|z|^2} \, (1-z)^{-1} \, \ln^{n-1} |z|^2 \, \ln^k |1-zt|^2 \, . \tag{4.36}$$

where n and k are positive integers. We define $S^{\mathbf{c}}(n,k) := S_{n,k}^{\mathbf{c}}(1)$. Then, eq. (4.35) becomes

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-\rho)^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S^{\mathbf{c}}(l+1,k-l) + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-\rho)^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \frac{r^k}{\pi k!} \int d^2 z \frac{\ln^k |z|^2}{|z|^2(1-z)}, \qquad (4.37)$$

where the last line contains the k = l terms in eq. (4.35). Similar to the type I open string case, we will see that this part reproduces the field theory Carrollian amplitude from YM eq. (3.5).

In polar coordinate $z = xe^{i\phi}$, the angular integral of the last line in eq. (4.37) becomes

$$\frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^1 d\phi \ (1 - xe^{i\phi})^{-1} = \begin{cases} 2, & 0 < x < 1\\ 0, & x > 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.38)

Then, the last line of eq. (4.37) becomes

$$2\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \frac{(-2\rho r \ln x)^k}{k!} = 2\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4^{1+2k} \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \frac{(-2\rho r \ln x)^k}{k!} = 2\int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \omega_4 \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} e^{-2\omega_4^2 \rho r \ln x} = -\int_0^{+\infty} d\omega_4 e^{i\omega_4 x_4} \frac{1}{\rho r \omega_4}, \qquad (4.39)$$

Plugging it back to eqs. (4.37) and (4.34), we obtain

$$C_{4H}(-,-,+,+) = C_{4,\rm YM}(-,-,+,+) + \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{|z_{34}|^2}{|z_{13}|^2} \frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}} \frac{r\delta(r-\bar{r})}{|z_{23}|^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(2+2k)}{(ix_4)^{2+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S^{\mathbf{c}}(l+1,k-l) .$$
(4.40)

Moreover, the coefficients of the double series expansion are related to zeta values and multiple zeta values in the following way

$$S^{\mathbf{c}}(k,1) = \operatorname{sv}(\zeta(k+1)) \quad l = k-1$$
 (4.41)

$$S^{\mathbf{c}}(l+1, k-l) = \operatorname{sv}(\zeta(l+2, \{1\}^{k-l-1})) \quad l < k-1,$$
(4.42)

where the single-valued map can be found in [39].

4.3 Mixed gauge-gravitational amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory

The amplitude with one graviton and three gauge bosons also exists in heterotic superstring theory. Similarly to the case of four gluons, it is related to EYM amplitude by a simple rescaling [24, 40]

$$\mathcal{M}_{H}(--, -, +, +) = \mathcal{M}(--, -, +, +) F_{H}(s, u), \qquad (4.43)$$

where F_H is the same heterotic formfactor eq. (4.28) as in the Yang-Mills case. We proceed to the computation of the corresponding Carrollian amplitude in the same way as in the previous subsection. We find

$$C_{4H}(--,-,+,+) = \exp\left\{\sum_{\substack{n \ge 2\\n \text{ odd}}} \frac{2\zeta(n)}{n} \frac{\alpha'^n |z_{14}|^{2n} |z_{34}|^{2n}}{|z_{13}|^{2n}} \left[(r-1)^n + \left(\frac{1-r}{r}\right)^n - \left(\frac{(r-1)^2}{r}\right)^n \right] (-1)^n \partial_{u_4}^{2n} \right\} \times C_{4,\text{EYM}}(--,-,+,+),$$

$$(4.44)$$

where $C_{4,EYM}(--,-,+,+)$ is given by eq. (3.10). Equivalently,

$$C_{4H}(--,-,+,+) = C_{4,\text{EYM}}(--,-,+,+) + \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{z_{12}z_{14}\bar{z}_{34}^3 r \delta(r-\bar{r})}{\bar{z}_{12}\bar{z}_{13}|z_{13}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(3+2k)}{(-ix_4)^{3+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S^{\mathbf{c}}(l+1,k-l) . \quad (4.45)$$

4.4 Graviton amplitudes in heterotic superstring theory

In heterotic superstring theory, the four-graviton amplitude is related to Einstein's amplitude by a simple rescaling,

$$\mathcal{M}_H(--, --, ++, ++) = \mathcal{M}(--, --, ++, ++) F_H(s, u), \qquad (4.46)$$

where $F_H(s, u)$ is the same string formfactor eq. (4.28) as in the four-gluon case. As a result, we find the corresponding Carrollian amplitude

$$C_{4H}(--,-,++,++) = \exp\left\{\sum_{\substack{n \ge 2\\n \text{ odd}}} \frac{2\zeta(n)}{n} \frac{\alpha'^n |z_{14}|^{2n} |z_{34}|^{2n}}{|z_{13}|^{2n}} \left[(r-1)^n + \left(\frac{1-r}{r}\right)^n - \left(\frac{(r-1)^2}{r}\right)^n \right] (-1)^n \partial_{u_4}^{2n} \right\} \times C_{4,\mathrm{E}}(--,-,++,++),$$

$$(4.47)$$

with $C_{4,E}(--,-,++,++)$ is given in eq. (3.13). And equivalently:

$$C_{4H}(--,-,++,++) = C_{4,E}(--,-,++,++) + \frac{\alpha'(1-r)}{4\pi^4} \frac{\delta(r-\bar{r})|z_{14}|^2|z_{34}|^4}{|z_{23}|^2|z_{13}|^4} \left(r\frac{z_{12}\bar{z}_{34}}{\bar{z}_{12}z_{34}}\right)^2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k \rho^k \Gamma(4+2k)}{(ix_4)^{4+2k}} \sum_{l=0}^{k-1} (-r)^l S^{\mathbf{c}}(l+1,k-l) .$$

$$(4.48)$$

5 Saddle-point approximation in Carrollian amplitudes from strings

In this section, we will show that in certain limit of the u coordinate of the Carrollian string amplitudes, the string world sheet becomes the celestial sphere in a similar way to section 4 of [20]. We adapt the notation used in section 4 of [20] and denote a = 1/r. In the region of s < 0 and u = -as < 0, the string formfactor of type I open string, see eq. (4.2), can be written as

$$F_I(s,u) = -sB(-s,1-u) = -s\int_0^1 dx \ x^{-1-s}(1-x)^{as} \,. \tag{5.1}$$

In order to discuss the $s \to -\infty$ limit, we write

$$-sB(-s,1-u) = -s\int_0^1 dx \ x^{-1}e^{-sf(x)}, \quad f(x) = \ln x - a\ln(1-x).$$
(5.2)

Using the steepest descent (saddle point) method [41] and solving the saddle point equation, one finds

$$f'(x_0) = 0 \Rightarrow x_0 = \frac{1}{1-a}$$
. (5.3)

The saddle point approximation (Laplace method) states that the integral for a function f(x) is approximated by

$$\int_{a}^{b} g(x) \exp[\alpha' f(x)] \, dx \sim \sqrt{\frac{2\pi}{\alpha' |f''(x_0)|}} \left[g(x_0) + \mathcal{O}(\alpha'^{-1})\right] \exp[\alpha' f(x_0)] \,. \tag{5.4}$$

The string formfactor eq. (5.2) becomes [20]

$$F_I(s,u) \sim \sqrt{\frac{2\pi as}{1-a}} (-a)^{as} (1-a)^{(1-a)s},$$
 (5.5)

which is exponentially suppressed at $s \to -\infty$ with a < 0. For the case of the physical range of s > 0, u < 0, see section 3 and 4 in [20].

Switching to the Carrollian corresponding amplitude, we start from eq. (4.11), where we encountered an integral of the form

$$\int_0^\infty d\omega \,\omega^{\nu-1} e^{-\beta\omega^2 - \gamma\omega} = (2\beta)^{-\nu/2} \Gamma(\nu) \exp\left(\frac{\gamma^2}{8\beta}\right) D_{-\nu}\left(\frac{\gamma}{\sqrt{2\beta}}\right),\tag{5.6}$$

where $D_{-\nu}(x)$ is the parabolic cylinder function. For our case $\nu = 2$ we can use the following relation between the parabolic cylinder function D_{-n-1} and the complementary error function erfc:

$$D_{-n-1}(z) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{(-1)^n}{n!} e^{-\frac{1}{4}z^2} \frac{d^n \left(e^{\frac{1}{2}z^2} \operatorname{erfc}(z/\sqrt{2})\right)}{dz^n} \,.$$
(5.7)

As a result, we find

$$\int_0^\infty d\omega\,\omega\,e^{-\beta\omega^2 - \gamma\omega} = \frac{1}{2\beta} - e^{\frac{\gamma^2}{4\beta}}\sqrt{\pi}\gamma \frac{\operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{\gamma}{2\sqrt{\beta}}\right)}{4\beta^{3/2}}\,.$$
(5.8)

Concretely, we have

$$\beta = \frac{\rho}{a} \left[\ln x - a \ln(1 - x) \right] \,, \tag{5.9}$$

$$\gamma = -ix_4 \,, \tag{5.10}$$

where ρ and x_4 are given by eqs. (4.12) and (3.6). We notice that the first term in eq. (5.8) does not depend on the Carrollian coordinate u. From the point of view of Carrollian

amplitudes, the second term in eq. (5.8) is more interesting. Hence, we will focus on the second term in the following.

In the region of a < 0, $\beta > 0$, we are interested in the limit $x_4 \to +\infty$. This can be achieved by taking $u_4, u_2 \to +\infty$ or $u_1, u_3 \to -\infty$. It corresponds to going to the corners of null infinity. The complementary error function admits the following asymptotic behavior:

$$\operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{\gamma}{2\sqrt{\beta}}\right) = 2 + e^{-\frac{\gamma^2}{4\beta}} \left(2\sqrt{\frac{\beta}{2}}\frac{1}{\gamma} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{\gamma^3}\right)\right).$$
(5.11)

Taking the contribution from the leading term, now the x-integral in the Carrollian amplitude eq. (4.11) becomes

$$x_4 \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} \exp\left(\frac{-a x_4^2}{4\rho[\ln x - a\ln(1-x)]}\right) \left[\frac{\rho}{a} \left(\ln x - a\ln(1-x)\right)\right]^{-3/2}, \quad (5.12)$$

where we omit an overall factor. Applying the Laplace method in eq. (5.4), we find that in the limit $x_4 \to +\infty$, the integral is dominated by the saddle point at

$$x_0 = \frac{1}{1-a} \,, \tag{5.13}$$

which is the same as the saddle point of string world sheet eq. (5.3). After some algebra, we obtain a compact expression for the *u*-dependent part of the Carrollian amplitude in type I open string:

$$C_{4I,u-\text{dependent}}(-,-,+,+) \sim \frac{a\delta(a-\bar{a})}{|z_{14}|^2|z_{23}|^2} \sqrt{\frac{2a}{(1-a)[-(1-a)\ln(1-a)-a\ln(-a)]}} \\ \times \exp\left(\frac{a\,x_4^2}{4\rho[(1-a)\ln(1-a)+a\ln(-a)]}\right).$$
(5.14)

To conclude, while in celestial holography the string world-sheet becomes celestial in the limit of large dimensions, $\sum_i \lambda_i \to \infty$, in the Carrolian holography this correspondence is reached by going to the corners of null infinity.

It would be interesting to find a physical or geometrical meaning of the saddle point solution (5.13) in the context of Carrollian CFT. As for the physical range of parameters s > 0, u < 0, the saddle point method would still work with a careful treatment of the integral contour known as the Pochhamer contour [20, 42].

6 Discussion

We have transformed superstring scattering amplitudes into correlation functions of primary fields of the putative Carrollian CFT at null infinity, so-called Carrollian amplitudes. We have focused on tree-level four-point amplitudes involving gauge bosons and gravitons in type I open superstring theory and in closed heterotic superstring theory. The Carrollian amplitudes are presented in two ways. In the first way, cf. e.g. eq. (4.9), the string α' -expansions are translated into a whole tower of both UV and IR finite *u*-descendants of the underlying field theory Carrollian amplitudes. In the second way, cf. e.g. eqs. (4.17) and (4.26), the Carrollian amplitudes are written as double series expansions with the coefficients determined by Nielsen polylogarithms or coefficients of Drinfeld associator, respectively, and their singlevalued version. We have explained how the single-valued projection, which relates heterotic and open string amplitudes, is implemented in Carrollian amplitudes. The properties of Carrollian amplitudes should be helpful in extracting more information about the underlying CFT at null infinity.

There are many open questions on Carrollian amplitudes in general. Here, we list a few of them. First, we expect some of the observed properties in four-point Carrollian string amplitudes to take over to higher-point amplitudes. We hope to address this question in the future.

Including loop corrections in celestial amplitudes has not been well understood, see however [43–58] on some progress. For the Carrollian approach, four-point Carrollian loop amplitudes have been studied in [18] in massless ϕ^4 theory. It would be interesting to see if there is a general scheme of including loop corrections to Carrollian amplitudes.

In celestial CFT, there is an interesting relation between celestial MHV gluon amplitudes and Liouville theory [59–61]. It would be fascinating if one could understand this relation from the Carrollian point of view.

It has been suggested before that Carrollian amplitudes are the natural objects obtained from the flat space limit of AdS amplitudes with suitable boundary conditions. See [62–68] for recent works on this direction. An interesting question is what kind of AdS amplitudes give rise to Carrollian string amplitudes in the flat space limit.

Acknowledgments

BZ would like to thank Tim Adamo, Wei Bu, Gerben Oling, and Piotr Tourkine for helpful discussions on related topics. This research was supported in part by grant NSF PHY-2309135 to the Kavli Institute for Theoretical Physics (KITP). TRT is supported by the National Science Foundation under Grants Number PHY-1913328 and PHY-2209903, by the NAWA Grant "Celestial Holography of Fundamental Interactions" and by the Simons Collaboration on Celestial Holography. Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this material are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation. BZ is supported by Royal Society.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] A. Strominger, Lectures on the Infrared Structure of Gravity and Gauge Theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [INSPIRE].
- [2] A.-M. Raclariu, Lectures on Celestial Holography, arXiv:2107.02075 [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Pasterski, Lectures on celestial amplitudes, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 1062 [arXiv:2108.04801] [INSPIRE].

- [4] S. Pasterski, M. Pate and A.-M. Raclariu, *Celestial Holography*, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2111.11392] [INSPIRE].
- [5] L. Donnay, Celestial holography: An asymptotic symmetry perspective, arXiv:2310.12922 [INSPIRE].
- [6] J.M. Lévy-Leblond, Une nouvelle limite non-relativiste du groupe de Poincaré, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré III (1965) 1.
- S. Pasterski and S.-H. Shao, Conformal basis for flat space amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 065022 [arXiv:1705.01027] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S. Pasterski, S.-H. Shao and A. Strominger, Gluon Amplitudes as 2d Conformal Correlators, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 085006 [arXiv:1706.03917] [INSPIRE].
- [9] L. Donnay, A. Fiorucci, Y. Herfray and R. Ruzziconi, Carrollian Perspective on Celestial Holography, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 071602 [arXiv:2202.04702] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Bagchi, S. Banerjee, R. Basu and S. Dutta, Scattering Amplitudes: Celestial and Carrollian, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 241601 [arXiv:2202.08438] [INSPIRE].
- [11] L. Donnay, A. Fiorucci, Y. Herfray and R. Ruzziconi, Bridging Carrollian and celestial holography, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 126027 [arXiv:2212.12553] [INSPIRE].
- S. Banerjee, Null Infinity and Unitary Representation of The Poincare Group, JHEP 01 (2019) 205 [arXiv:1801.10171] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S. Banerjee, S. Ghosh, P. Pandey and A.P. Saha, Modified celestial amplitude in Einstein gravity, JHEP 03 (2020) 125 [arXiv:1909.03075] [INSPIRE].
- S. Banerjee, S. Ghosh and R. Gonzo, BMS symmetry of celestial OPE, JHEP 04 (2020) 130
 [arXiv:2002.00975] [INSPIRE].
- [15] J. Salzer, An embedding space approach to Carrollian CFT correlators for flat space holography, JHEP 10 (2023) 084 [arXiv:2304.08292] [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Nguyen, Carrollian conformal correlators and massless scattering amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2024) 076 [arXiv:2311.09869] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L. Mason, R. Ruzziconi and A. Yelleshpur Srikant, Carrollian Amplitudes and Celestial Symmetries, arXiv:2312.10138 [INSPIRE].
- [18] W.-B. Liu, J. Long and X.-Q. Ye, Feynman rules and loop structure of Carrollian amplitude, arXiv:2402.04120 [INSPIRE].
- [19] E. Have, K. Nguyen, S. Prohazka and J. Salzer, Massive carrollian fields at timelike infinity, arXiv:2402.05190 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. Stieberger and T.R. Taylor, Strings on Celestial Sphere, Nucl. Phys. B 935 (2018) 388 [arXiv:1806.05688] [INSPIRE].
- [21] W.-B. Liu and J. Long, Symmetry group at future null infinity: Scalar theory, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 126002 [arXiv:2210.00516] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Saha, Carrollian approach to 1 + 3D flat holography, JHEP 06 (2023) 051 [arXiv:2304.02696] [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Saha, $w_{1+\infty}$ and Carrollian Holography, arXiv: 2308.03673 [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Stieberger and T.R. Taylor, New relations for Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 913 (2016) 151 [arXiv:1606.09616] [INSPIRE].
- [25] H. Kawai, D.C. Lewellen and S.H.H. Tye, A Relation Between Tree Amplitudes of Closed and Open Strings, Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].

- [26] M.B. Green and J.H. Schwarz, Supersymmetrical Dual String Theory. 2. Vertices and Trees, Nucl. Phys. B 198 (1982) 252 [INSPIRE].
- [27] J. Sondow and S. Zlobin, Integrals Over Polytopes, Multiple Zeta Values and Polylogarithms, and Euler's Constant, arXiv:0705.0732 [D0I:10.1134/S0001434608090290].
- [28] F. Brown and C. Dupont, Single-valued integration and superstring amplitudes in genus zero, Commun. Math. Phys. 382 (2021) 815 [arXiv:1910.01107] [INSPIRE].
- [29] K.S. Kolbig, Nielsen's generalized polylogarithms, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 17 (1986) 1232 [INSPIRE].
- [30] K.S. Kolbig, J.A. Mignoco and E. Remiddi, On Nielsen's generalized polylogarithms and their numerical calculation, CERN-DD-CO-69-5 (1969) [INSPIRE].
- [31] V. Adamchik, On Stirling numbers and Euler sums, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 79 (1997) 119.
- [32] J.M. Borwein, D.M. Bradley and D.J. Broadhurst, Evaluations of K fold Euler / Zagier sums: A compendium of results for arbitrary k, hep-th/9611004 [INSPIRE].
- [33] V.G. Drinfeld, On quasitriangular quasi-Hopf algebras and a group closely connected with $Gal(\bar{Q}/Q)$, Algebra i Analiz **2** (1990) 149, english transl.: Leningrad Math. J. **2** (1991) 829.
- [34] S. Chmutov, S. Duzhin and J. Mostovoy, *Introduction to Vassiliev Knot Invariants*, Cambridge University Press (2012).
- [35] P. Di Francesco, P. Mathieu and D. Senechal, *Conformal Field Theory*, ISBN 978-0-387-94785-3, 978-1-4612-7475-9, Springer-Verlag (1997).
- [36] D.J. Gross, J.A. Harvey, E.J. Martinec and R. Rohm, Heterotic String Theory. 2. The Interacting Heterotic String, Nucl. Phys. B 267 (1986) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Stieberger, Closed superstring amplitudes, single-valued multiple zeta values and the Deligne associator, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 155401 [arXiv:1310.3259] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Stieberger and T.R. Taylor, Closed String Amplitudes as Single-Valued Open String Amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 881 (2014) 269 [arXiv:1401.1218] [INSPIRE].
- [39] F. Brown, Single-valued Motivic Periods and Multiple Zeta Values, SIGMA 2 (2014) e25 [arXiv:1309.5309] [INSPIRE].
- [40] O. Schlotterer, Amplitude relations in heterotic string theory and Einstein-Yang-Mills, JHEP 11 (2016) 074 [arXiv:1608.00130] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D.J. Gross and P.F. Mende, The High-Energy Behavior of String Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 129 [INSPIRE].
- [42] E. Witten, The Feynman iε in String Theory, JHEP 04 (2015) 055 [arXiv:1307.5124]
 [INSPIRE].
- [43] H.A. González, A. Puhm and F. Rojas, Loop corrections to celestial amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 126027 [arXiv:2009.07290] [INSPIRE].
- [44] N. Arkani-Hamed, M. Pate, A.-M. Raclariu and A. Strominger, Celestial amplitudes from UV to IR, JHEP 08 (2021) 062 [arXiv:2012.04208] [INSPIRE].
- [45] L. Magnea, Non-abelian infrared divergences on the celestial sphere, JHEP 05 (2021) 282 [arXiv:2104.10254] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Ball, S.A. Narayanan, J. Salzer and A. Strominger, Perturbatively exact $w_{1+\infty}$ asymptotic symmetry of quantum self-dual gravity, JHEP **01** (2022) 114 [arXiv:2111.10392] [INSPIRE].
- [47] K. Costello and N.M. Paquette, Associativity of One-Loop Corrections to the Celestial Operator Product Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 231604 [arXiv:2204.05301] [INSPIRE].

- [48] L. Donnay, K. Nguyen and R. Ruzziconi, Loop-corrected subleading soft theorem and the celestial stress tensor, JHEP 09 (2022) 063 [arXiv:2205.11477] [INSPIRE].
- [49] S. Pasterski, A comment on loop corrections to the celestial stress tensor, JHEP **01** (2023) 025 [arXiv:2205.10901] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R. Bhardwaj et al., Loop-level gluon OPEs in celestial holography, JHEP 11 (2022) 171 [arXiv:2208.14416] [INSPIRE].
- [51] R. Bittleston, On the associativity of 1-loop corrections to the celestial operator product in gravity, JHEP 01 (2023) 018 [arXiv:2211.06417] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. He, P. Mao and X.-C. Mao, Loop corrections versus marginal deformation in celestial holography, arXiv:2307.02743 [INSPIRE].
- [53] K. Costello, N.M. Paquette and A. Sharma, Burns space and holography, JHEP 10 (2023) 174 [arXiv:2306.00940] [INSPIRE].
- [54] L. Donnay et al., Celestial open strings at one-loop, JHEP 10 (2023) 047 [arXiv:2307.03551]
 [INSPIRE].
- [55] H. Krishna, Celestial gluon and graviton OPE at loop level, JHEP 03 (2024) 176 [arXiv:2310.16687] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S. Banerjee, H. Kulkarni and P. Paul, Celestial OPE in Self Dual Gravity, arXiv:2311.06485 [INSPIRE].
- [57] Y.-X. Tao, Celestial Berends-Giele current, JHEP 09 (2023) 193 [arXiv:2307.14772] [INSPIRE].
- [58] P. Chattopadhyay and Y.-X. Tao, Celestial self-dual Yang-Mills theory: a new formula and the OPE limit, JHEP 03 (2024) 100 [arXiv:2401.02760] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Stieberger, T.R. Taylor and B. Zhu, Celestial Liouville theory for Yang-Mills amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 836 (2023) 137588 [arXiv:2209.02724] [INSPIRE].
- [60] T.R. Taylor and B. Zhu, Celestial Supersymmetry, JHEP 06 (2023) 210 [arXiv:2302.12830] [INSPIRE].
- [61] S. Stieberger, T.R. Taylor and B. Zhu, Yang-Mills as a Liouville theory, Phys. Lett. B 846 (2023) 138229 [arXiv:2308.09741] [INSPIRE].
- [62] E. Hijano, Flat space physics from AdS/CFT, JHEP 07 (2019) 132 [arXiv:1905.02729]
 [INSPIRE].
- [63] Y.-Z. Li, Notes on flat-space limit of AdS/CFT, JHEP 09 (2021) 027 [arXiv:2106.04606] [INSPIRE].
- [64] L.P. de Gioia and A.-M. Raclariu, Eikonal approximation in celestial CFT, JHEP 03 (2023) 030 [arXiv:2206.10547] [INSPIRE].
- [65] L.P. de Gioia and A.-M. Raclariu, Celestial Sector in CFT: Conformally Soft Symmetries, arXiv:2303.10037 [INSPIRE].
- [66] A. Bagchi, P. Dhivakar and S. Dutta, AdS Witten diagrams to Carrollian correlators, JHEP 04 (2023) 135 [arXiv:2303.07388] [INSPIRE].
- [67] S. Duary, Flat limit of massless scalar scattering in AdS₂, arXiv:2305.20037 [INSPIRE].
- [68] A. Bagchi, P. Dhivakar and S. Dutta, Holography in Flat Spacetimes: the case for Carroll, arXiv:2311.11246 [INSPIRE].